1997

Kim Rinderknecht v. Lance Luck : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction in the Utah Court of Appeals is conferred by virtue of Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3 and Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the trial court err in its application of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3) (b) as the basis for its Ruling and Judgment granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment?

Did the court err in finding that a contract had not been admitted to by Defendant in light of the meaning and intent of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3) (b) ?

Did the trial court's err in its granting of Defendant's motion for summary judgment?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals reviews the trial court's interpretation and application of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3)(b), which poses a question of law, for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497, 499 (Utah 1989); Asay v. Watkins, 751 P.2d 1135 (Utah 1988).

The Court of Appeals reviews the trial court's finding that Luck did not admit the existence of a contract "for clear error, reversing only where the finding is against the clear weight of the evidence, or if [it] otherwise reach[es] a firm conviction that a mistake has been made. ProMax Development v. Mattson, 322 Utah Adv. Rep. 35, 38 (Utah Ct. App. 1997). See State v. Goodman, 763 P.2d 786 (Utah 1988); Cummings v. Cummings, 821 P.2d 472 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

The Court of Appeals reviews the trial court's dismissal of Rinderknecht's complaint for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. First Sec. Bank of Utah v. Creech, 858 P.2d 958, 963 (Utah 1993).

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

1. Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201, and specifically, Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3)(b).

2. Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and specifically, Rule 56(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal is from a Ruling rendered April 4, 1997 and a Judgment on Lance Luck's Motion for Summary Judgment rendered May 7, 1997 in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Duchesne County, Roosevelt Department, State of Utah. The Judgment summarily dismissed Kim Rinderknecht's complaint.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Plaintiff-Appellant (Rinderknecht) filed a Complaint on October 22, 1996, alleging breach of a oral contract for the purchase and sale of cattle. (R. 1-5). Defendant-Appellee (Luck) filed an Answer on November 20, 1996, wherein he asserted statute of frauds. (R. 22).

Luck filed a motion for summary judgment on February 7, 1997, (R. 27), along with a memorandum, (R. 30), and an affidavit, (R. 36). Rinderknecht filed memorandum in opposition to Luck's motion on February 25, 1997, (R. 45), along with an affidavit, (R. 42).

Luck filed a reply memorandum on March 6, 1997, (R. 59).

The lower court issued its ruling on April 4, 1997, (R. 78), and entered its judgment based thereon on May 7, 1997, (R. 81).

C. DISPOSITION IN TRIAL COURT

The trial court issued a ruling granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint. (R. 78-80). In its ruling, the Court stated as follows:

The court has reviewed all of [Defendant's] pleading in this case, including his affidavit, and finds that [Defendant] has not admitted the existence of a contract. It is true, as [Plaintiff] notes, that the pleadings exception to the statute of frauds will never be applicable against a contesting defendant who is well versed in the law (or who has an attorney who is so versed). The pleading exception is designed to fulfill the expectation of merchants who are either not versed in the law or who are too honest to deny the existence of an unwritten contract. However, the purpose of the statute of frauds is frustrated if raising the defense is treated as an admission that a verbal contract exists.

(R. 79).

The trial court signed its Judgment on April 28, 1997 and filed it May 7, 1997, wherein the Court stated the following:

Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment is granted. Plaintiff's cause of action is barred by the Statute of Frauds found in Utah Code Ann. Section 70A-2-201. Plaintiff's reliance on an exception to the Statute of Frauds found in 70A-2-201(3) is misplaced. The Court has reviewed all of Defendant's pleadings in this matter, including Defendant's Affidavit and finds that Defendant has not admitted the existence of a contract.

(R. 81-82).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant stated in paragraph 3 of his affidavit in support of his motion for summary judgment as follows:

On or about July 11, 1996, I had a telephone conversation with Plaintiff Kim Rinderknecht during which I offered to sell him 240 head of cattle (steers and heifers). . . . The sales price was 58 cents (\$0.58) per pound for steers and 52 cents (\$0.52) per pound for heifers.

(R. 36-37). Defendant also stated the above in his memorandum supporting summary judgment. (R. 31).

Defendant states in paragraph 4 of his affidavit and paragraph 2. of the relevant facts attached to his memorandum supporting motion for summary judgment as follows:

Plaintiff proposed to pay \$7,200.00 as a deposit, with the balance of the sales price being paid upon completion of the contract, or the delivery of the cattle.

(R. 37 and R. 31).

Defendant further states in his affidavit that he had not received the deposit check or written contract as of August 1, 1996. So he called Plaintiff on that day to discuss Plaintiff's intentions. According to Defendant's Affidavit, Plaintiff indicated that Defendant would receive the check and written contract within a few days. (R. 37). The above is also stated in defendant's memorandum supporting motion for summary judgment. (R. 31).

Defendant states that as of August 20, 1996, he had still not received the deposit check and written contract. So he called Plaintiff again on that date. He could not reach the Plaintiff. So he sold the cattle elsewhere. (R. 37).

Defendant states in paragraph 6 of his statement of Relevant Facts in his memorandum supporting summary judgment that he sold the cattle at a price less than the "contract price with Plaintiff." (R. 32).

Plaintiff states in his affidavit that on July 11, 1996, the telephone conversation as presented in Defendant's affidavit did in fact occur. (R. 14). Plaintiff further states that on that same day he mailed a deposit check and written memorandum of the agreement. (R. 14). Plaintiff also states that on that same day he also entered into a similar agreement on the telephone to sell the same cattle to a feedlot in reliance on the agreement with Defendant. (R. 14-15).

Plaintiff states in his affidavit that the first telephone conversation between the parties following the July 11, 1996 telephone conversation occurred several days later. (R. 14 and R. 43). Plaintiff further states that the Plaintiff offered to hand deliver the check and written contract to Defendant but Defendant said that would not be necessary, and that he, the Defendant, would call Plaintiff in a day or two if he still had not received the

check. (R. 15 and R. 43).

Plaintiff denies that Defendant attempted to reach him at any time following the telephone conversation near the end of July 1996. (R. 15 and R. 43-44). Plaintiff states that he has, and did have at that time, an answering machine on his telephone as is always reachable. (R. 43).

Plaintiff was contractually committed to fulfill his obligation under the agreement with the feedlot and sustained damages as a result. (R. 4-5).

Plaintiff filed a Complaint against Defendant on November 4, 1996, alleging breach of contract. (R. 1-10).

On January 31, 1997, Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 27-29).

On March 27, 1997, the Eighth Judicial District Court of Duchesne County, State of Utah, Roosevelt Department, issued a ruling granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint. (R. 78-80). In its ruling, the Court stated as follows:

The court has reviewed all of [Defendant's] pleading in this case, including his affidavit, and finds that [Defendant] has not admitted the existence of a contract. It is true, as [Plaintiff] notes, that the pleadings exception to the statute of frauds will never be applicable against a contesting defendant who is well versed in the law (or who has an attorney who is so versed). The pleading exception is designed to fulfill the expectation of merchants who are either not versed in the law or who are too honest to deny the existence of an unwritten contract. However, the purpose of

the statute of frauds is frustrated if raising the defense is treated as an admission that a verbal contract exists.

(R. 79).

The Court signed its Judgment on April 28, 1997 and filed it May 7, 1997, wherein the Court stated the following:

Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment is granted. Plaintiff's cause of action is barred by the Statute of Frauds found in Utah Code Ann. Section 70A-2-201. Plaintiff's reliance on an exception to the Statute of Frauds found in 70A-2-201(3) is misplaced. The Court has reviewed all of Defendant's pleadings in this matter, including Defendant's Affidavit and finds that Defendant has not admitted the existence of a contract.

(R. 81-82).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court's Ruling and Judgment granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment was based on an error in the Court's application of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3)(b). The weight of legal authority is clearly contrary to basis upon which the trial court dismissed plaintiff's complaint.

The court was in error in finding that a contract had not been admitted to by Defendant within the meaning and intent of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3)(b).

The trial court's granting of Defendant's motion for summary judgment was an error as a matter of law because genuine issues of material fact exist. The weight of legal authority suggests that, in light of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3)(b) and UCC § 2-201(3)(b),

and in light of the meaning and intent of these statutory provisions, summary dismissal of a complaint upon the basis of the Statute of Frauds is never appropriate.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court's Ruling and Judgment granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment was based on an error in the Court's application of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3)(b).

The standard of review applied to the trial court's interpretation of statutes which pose question of law is for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497, 499 (Utah 1989); Asay v. Watkins, 751 P.2d 1135 (Utah 1988).

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3)(b) (UCC § 2-201(3)(b)) states as follows:

A contract which does not satisfy the requirements of Subsection (1) but which is valid in other respects is enforceable if the party against whom enforcement is sought admits in his pleading, testimony or otherwise in court that a contract for sale was made, but the contract is not enforceable under this provision beyond the quantity of the goods admitted

The only published Utah case that Appellant has found that has considered the application of the above statute is the case of Lish v. Compton, 547 P.2d 223 (Utah 1976). In Lish, the facts state

that the Plaintiff and Defendant had a discussion on the telephone regarding the sale of 15,000 bushels of wheat. Plaintiff claimed that the terms were agreed to over the telephone. Approximately two weeks after the telephone conversation, Plaintiff mailed to Defendant a written confirmation of the telephone call. Defendant later sold his wheat to someone else. Plaintiff sued for breach of a verbal contract. Defendant acknowledged in Court that had he received the written confirmation within a more reasonable time, he would have considered himself "bound thereby." The Plaintiff took the position that this acknowledgment by the Defendant had the effect of excepting this transaction from the statute of frauds pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3)(b). However, the Court held that the acknowledgment of the Defendant was merely a hypothetical statement and did not constitute an admission as to the existence of a contract. The Court further noted that "[t]he fact appears to be that neither in his pleading nor otherwise did the Defendant acknowledge that there was a valid and binding contract." The Court thus ruled that Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-201(3)(b) did not apply to except this transaction from the statute of frauds.

Legal authorities have cited the Lish case for the proposition that a hypothetical statement does not constitute an admission as to the existence of a contract for purposes of UCC § 2-201(3)(b).

Timothy E. Travers, Annotation, Construction and Application of UCC § 2-201(3)(b) Rendering Contract of Sale Enforceable notwithstanding Statute of Frauds, to extent it is Admitted in Pleading, Testimony, or otherwise in Court, 88 A.L.R.3d 416, 427 (1978); 67 Am. Jur. 2d, Sales § 204. The Lish Case is distinguishable from this case in that there is no indication in Lish that the Defendant admitted to anything aside from the fact that a telephone conversation occurred and there is no hypothetical statements in this case.

If Lish is applied as legal authority for the proposition that there was no admission in this case or that the Defendant must admit in explicit terms the existence of a valid and binding contract, first, it is not likely that such a case will ever happen and there is, therefore, no purpose for UCC § 2-201(3)(b), and second, it will be against the overwhelming majority of the case law of the other jurisdictions. See generally, Travers, supra 88 A.L.R.3d 416. However, the court in this matter, in ruling that there was no admission and in declaring the alleged contract barred by the statute of limitations, clearly applied Lish for the proposition that, in order for UCC § 2-201(3)(b) to apply, the defendant would have had to admit not only explicit terms of a contract but explicitly that in his opinion it is legal and binding and that the statute of frauds does not apply because of UCC § 2-

201(3)(b). Based on the following authorities, and on the previously cited A.L.R. and Am. Jur. discussions, it is clear that the Court in this case applied the statute in error.

In Quaney v. Tobyne, 689 P.2d 844 (Kansas 1984), the Plaintiff, a rancher, sued the Defendant, a feed lot operator, for breach of an oral contract to purchase cattle. In Defendant's in-court testimony, he stated (1) he was to purchase 285 steers at 65 cents per pound, (2) he was satisfied with of quality of the steers, (3) the steers were to be weighed at a specified place, (4) the loading date would be around October 1, 1982, and (5) he would make a down payment of \$8,000. At trial, the defendant admitted to further conduct which suggested that he recognized the existence of a contract although he did not explicitly admit that the contract was legal and binding.

In applying UCC § 2-201(3)(b), the Kansas Supreme Court in Quaney stated the following:

In the case now before us, we are required to consider the "admission" made by the defendant, Lowell Tobyne, in the course of the litigation. This requires us to consider any admissions made in his pleadings, testimony, or otherwise in court to the effect that a contract for sale was made.

Id. at 849. Summarizing 88 A.L.R.3d 416 the Kansas court also stated as follows:

It has been stated by the courts that the purposes of [UCC 2-201(3)(b)] are (1) to provide that a party cannot admit the existence of an oral contract for the sale of

goods and simultaneously claim the benefit of the statute of frauds, (2) to prevent the statute of frauds from becoming an aid to fraud, and (3) to expand the exceptions to the nonenforceability of oral contracts under the statute of frauds.

In determining what constitutes an admission under UCC 2-201(3)(b) the Kansas court in Quaney went through a rather lengthy discussion and began by citing Lewis v. Hughes, 346 A.2d 231 (Md. 1975) (a case involving the breach of an oral contract for the purchase of a mobile home) as "[a] leading case in this area." The court in Lewis held the following which was quoted by the court in Quaney:

Statute of frauds is satisfied . . . when the party denying the existence of the contract and relying on the statute takes the stand and, without admitting explicitly that a contract was made, testifies to facts which as a matter of law establish that a contract was formed.

Quaney, 689 P.2d at 849. The court in Quaney also cited Dangerfield v. Markel, 222 N.W.2d 373 (N.D. 1974) (a case involving the breach of an oral contract for the sale of potatoes) for the proposition "that the parties against whom an oral contract is sought to be enforced need not admit there is a contract or admit the contract in the exact terms claimed" and for the proposition that "if a fair consideration of the party's testimony, and its implications under the circumstances established by the record, establishes the claimed agreement, it will be enforced." Quaney, 689 P.2d at 849.

The court in Quaney also cited Cargill Inc., Commodity Marketing Div. v. Hale, 537 S.W.2d 667 (Mo. Ct. App. 1976) (a case involving the breach of an oral contract for sale of soybeans). The Court in Cargill found that the following exchange upon cross-examination was sufficient to establish defendant's admission under UCC § 2-201(3)(b) even though defendant denied that there had been a meeting of the minds:

Q. Didn't you agree to sell these beans to [plaintiff's manager] over the phone for a certain price?

A. Yes, sir.

Cargill, 537 S.W.2d at 669.

Regarding the question of what constitutes an admission, the court in Quaney also quoted 2 Anderson, Uniform Commercial Code § 2-201:216, pp. 116-117 (3rd ed. 1982) as follows:

There is an admission for the purpose of UCC § 2-201(3) when there is a manifestation that fairly communicates the concept that the party has admitted the existence of the contract. It is not necessary that there be an express declaration that the party "admits" the making of an oral "contract." It is sufficient that his words or conduct reasonably lead to that conclusion.

.
When a party admits facts the legal consequence of which is that there is a contract, it is to be concluded that there has been an admission of the existence of the contract. The fact that the party does not appreciate or understand that the subsidiary facts admitted by him have the effect of creating a contract or that he is unwilling to state that they did does not negate the fact that a "contract" has been admitted. On this basis, it has been held that there is an "admission" so as to take an oral contract out of the statute of frauds when the party

denying the existence of a contract and pleading the statute of frauds testifies to facts from which it can be concluded that a contract had been formed, even though he does not expressly admit that a contract was formed.

Quaney, 689 P.2d at 850.

Quaney also quoted 2 Williston on Sales, § 14-9, p. 306 (4th ed. 1974) as follows:

The mere fact that a party has, by pleading, testimony or otherwise in court admitted to the existence of a contract does not mean that it is an admission of every individual term of the contract between the parties. Of course, if the party against whom enforcement is sought admits to the terms of the contracts seriatim, it would be extremely difficult to visualize a situation where the trier of facts would not find that an oral agreement between the parties had not in fact taken place.

Quaney, 689 P.2d at 850.

Finally, the court in Quaney held as follows:

From our analysis of this testimony, we have concluded that, although the defendant did not openly and frankly admit to an oral agreement, his testimony sufficiently establishes that an oral agreement existed. The defendant acknowledged all the principal terms of the agreement. The parties had agreed on a price per pound, type and quality of the cattle, place of loading, place of weighing, and the down payment. Although the defendant never paid the down payment or drew up a written contract as he volunteered to do, we hold that his testimony contained admissions of his statements and actions sufficient to satisfy the requirements of [UCC § 2-201(3)(b)].

Id. at 852.

The following cases also include similar analyses and similar holdings based on similar facts: Hale v. Higginbotham, 188 S.E.2d 515 (Ga. 1972) (involving breach of oral contract for sale of milk

base); Quad County Grain, Inc. v. Poe, 202 N.W.2d 118 (Iowa 1972) (involving breach of oral contract for sale of corn); and, URSA Farmers Cooperative Co. v. Trent, 374 N.E.2d 1123 (Ill. App. Ct. 1978) (involving breach of oral contract for sale of soybeans).

The North Dakota Supreme Court rereviewed the Dangerfield case on a second appeal and quoted the official comment on UCC § 2-201(3)(b) as follows:

If the making of a contract is admitted in court, either in a written pleading, by stipulation or by oral statement before court, no additional writing is necessary for protection against fraud. Under this section it is not longer possible to admit the contract in court and still treat the Statute as a defense. However, the contract is not thus conclusively established. The admission so made by a party is itself evidential against him of the truth of the facts so admitted and of nothing more; as against the other party, it is not evidential at all.

Dangerfield v. Markel, 252 N.W.2d 184, 189 (N.D. 1977). The court in this Dangerfield opinion also quoted 3 Bender's Uniform Commercial Code Service, Duesenberg & King, Sales and Bulk Transfers, § 2.04[3], pp. 2-80, 2-81 as follows:

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