1997

Kim Rinderknecht v. Lance Luck : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The record is absolutely clear that Defendant never accepted the offer made by the Plaintiff. Defendant offered to sell the cattle in such a way that acceptance was conditioned upon receipt of a deposit of \$7,200.00, and a written contract. Defendant's Affidavit indicates that the offer was made on July 11, 1996, and that as of late August, 1996, the time cattle sales are generally consummated, the Plaintiff had not accepted the offer because Defendant had not received the down payment or a written contract. Plaintiff acknowledges in his Affidavit in Opposition to Summary Judgment that he received a telephone call from Defendant in which

the Defendant informed him that he had not received the check, but did nothing to insure that the check was received.

The record is absolutely clear that Defendant made no admission as to the existence of an alleged oral contract. On appeal, Plaintiff assumes, and dogmatically insists, that Defendant's Affidavit "admits" the existence of a contract. A review of the Affidavit belies the truthfulness of that assertion, as a matter of law.

Utah law is abundantly clear that the fact that a party admits to pre-contract negotiations does not create a binding contract. Indeed, on facts indistinguishable from these in the case at bar, the Utah Supreme Court held that the Statute of Frauds bars an attempt to enforce pre-contract negotiations, or even an alleged oral agreement that is not reduced to writing. See Lish v. Compton, 547 P.2d 223 (Utah 1975). The Court should apply Utah law and ignore factually distinct cases from foreign jurisdictions which offer no insight to the issue before this Court.

Plaintiff's proposed policy would require all Courts to allow the trier of fact to determine whether the admission exception to the Statute of Frauds exists in any case where the Statute of Frauds is raised as a defense, and further defeats the purpose of the Statute of Frauds, and the purpose of Summary Judgment. The long-standing policy against the enforcement of oral contracts

demands that the Court affirm the trial court's conclusion that the alleged oral agreement is barred as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

I. THE ALLEGED ORAL CONTRACT IS UNENFORCEABLE BECAUSE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO ACCEPT DEFENDANT'S OFFER TO PURCHASE CATTLE AND NEVER PERFORMED AS REQUIRED.

This is a simple case involving contract formation issues. Plaintiff's claim is barred because the parties' negotiations never resulted in an enforceable contract. To state it bluntly, Plaintiff never accepted the offer extended by the Defendant.

Utah courts recognize that in cases involving the Uniform Commercial Code where an offer is not accepted as required in the Code, there is no enforceable contract between the parties. Herm Hughes & Sons, Inc. v. Quintek, 834 P.2d 582 (Utah Ct. App. 1992); See also Johnson Tire Serv. Inc. v. Thorn, Inc., 613 P.2d 521 (Utah 1980) (refusing to enforce part of UCC contract where there was not proper acceptance of the offer). In the Herm Hughes case, the Plaintiff, a general contractor, sued the Defendant, a subcontractor, seeking to recover the difference between a bid price which was offered during on-going negotiations between the parties, and the higher price actually paid to another subcontractor for furnishing the materials, after negotiations with the Defendant broke down. The Court ruled in favor of the Defendant, and rejected Plaintiff's claim, ruling that the bid, the

offer, was not enforceable as a contract because the Plaintiff had not accepted it.

Utah Code Ann. §70A-2-206(2) recognizes that:

[w]here the beginning of a requested performance is a reasonable mode of acceptance an offeror who is not notified of acceptance within a reasonable time may treat the offer as having lapsed before acceptance.

In this case, the Affidavit of Defendant expressly indicates that his offer made on July 11, 1996, was conditioned upon an acceptance of the contract in the form of a down payment of \$7,200.00 and a written contract, which Defendant never received. (R.37, Affidavit of Lance Luck, paras. 4-7.)

Plaintiff acknowledges in his Affidavit in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgement that Defendant informed him that he had not received the check for a down payment. In spite of that knowledge, Plaintiff took no action to insure that the check was received. After Defendant had heard nothing from the Plaintiff by August 20, 1996, approximately six weeks after the offer was made and near the end of the cattle sales season, Defendant sold the cattle to another buyer because he correctly concluded that the offer had lapsed. Thus, under the admitted facts in the

Affidavits, this Court should conclude that there was no acceptance of Defendant's offer, and affirm the decision of the trial court.²

II. UTAH CASE LAW EXPRESSLY PRECLUDES THE ARGUMENT OF THE SO-CALLED "ADMISSION EXCEPTION" TO THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS RAISED BY THE PLAINTIFF IN THIS CASE.

Notwithstanding the enormous problem with acceptance of the offer in this case, which is not addressed in Plaintiff's brief, even under the facts and law as stated by Defendant, the trial court's decision was correct. The issue presented by the Plaintiff to this Court has been decided by the Utah Supreme Court in Defendant's favor in the case of Lish.³ Although Plaintiff refers to the Lish case in its brief and attempts to distinguish it, Plaintiff's efforts at distinguishing the two cases are decidedly unconvincing. Indeed, Defendant suggests that the holding in Lish

²Plaintiff argued below that Defendant had an undefined obligation to contact Plaintiff after August 20, 1996, approximately six weeks after the offer was made to sell the cattle, and again inform him that he had not received the check and contract, which constituted acceptance of the offer. Such a position is properly rejected out of hand because it attempts to improperly redirect the burden of properly accepting the offer on the party who is making the offer. Such a position makes no sense.

³Plaintiff cites several cases from outside Utah in support of his position. Defendant does not believe a tit-for-tat on the holdings of these cases will assist the Court in its decision. For the most part, Plaintiff has no quarrel with the holdings of the cases from outside the state of Utah, as well as the plain language of Utah Code Ann. §70A-2-201(3)(b), which recognizes that where there is an admission as to the existence of a contract, it can act as an exception to the statute of frauds. These cases cannot change a non-admission into an admission, no matter how many times they are quoted.

absolutely precludes a good faith argument by Plaintiff that the trial court's decision should be overturned on appeal in this case.

In Lish, the Plaintiff, a grain broker, brought an action against a wheat farmer, alleging--as here--breach of a verbal contract for the sale of a wheat crop. Interestingly, unlike here, the Plaintiff in Lish sent a written confirmation of the sale of the wheat approximately two weeks after the conversation in which the alleged oral agreement was reached. The Plaintiff sued attempting to enforce the alleged agreement. The Defendant in Lish, as has Defendant here, raised a defense based on the Statute of Frauds.

In Lish, the trial court allowed the case to go to a jury, who answered interrogatories in favor of Plaintiff and determined that there was a binding oral contract for the sale of the grain crop. The Supreme Court reversed the jury verdict and held, as a matter of law, that the Statute of Frauds precluded the Plaintiff from recovering on the alleged oral contract. The evidence adduced at trial, and which the Supreme Court concluded as a matter of law established there was no oral contract, is as follows:

1. That on August 2, 1973, the Plaintiff Lish telephoned the Defendant Compton and talked about the purchase of the latter's wheat crop soon to be harvested.
2. That the price discussed, and which Plaintiff claims was agreed upon, was \$3.30 per bushel for about 15,000 bushels.

3. That Plaintiff made a notation of this agreement in his notebook on that day and that he committed this same 15,000 bushels of wheat to the Pillsbury Mills at Ogden for \$3.45 per bushel, to be delivered upon the harvesting of the wheat.

4. That on August 14, 1973, Plaintiff sent a confirmation which was received by Defendant on August 15, 1973.

Id. at 223-24.

In Lish, During examination of the Plaintiff at trial, he admitted that had he received a copy of the written confirmation sooner than two weeks after the alleged conversation, he would have been bound to perform under the contract. Based on that "admission," the Plaintiff argued that the Defendant admitted the existence of the contract, and could not rely on a Statute of Frauds defense. The Supreme Court rejected the argument out of hand. The Court stated:

The provision in the statute that if a party 'admits in court that a contract for sale was made' simply recognizes the obvious, that if he acknowledges a valid and binding contract, he should be bound thereby.

Id. at 226

In analyzing whether such an admission has been made, the court stated that:

Fairness requires that the Defendant's position be ascertained from the total posture of his defense, rather than by taking a hypothetical statement from his testimony and treating it as a statement of fact.

Id. at 226

Clearly, the "evidence" in the case at bar, which calls into question the alleged admission of Defendant, is similar to that in Lish which was inadequate as a matter of law. In essence, all the Defendant Mr. Luck "admitted" in his Affidavit here is that there was a conversation between the parties in which they discussed the sale of cattle and the price of the sale, and the conditions of such a sale and the means of acceptance--similar to that in the Lish case, except the Plaintiff in the Lish case went the additional step and sent a document that purported to confirm the agreement. Such an admission, if it can be called that, certainly does not admit the existence of a valid contract which trumps a Statute of Frauds defense. As in Lish, Defendant here would have agreed that he would have been bound by the alleged contract, had the Plaintiff properly accepted the offer by paying the amount of the deposit as consideration. However, because Plaintiff never accepted the contract, and gave no consideration, there was nothing to enforce.

In this case, Plaintiff takes the position, to the exclusion of all the disclaimers in the Answer, and the Affidavit, that a statement regarding contract negotiations and the means of acceptance demonstrates the existence of a contract. Stated another way, Plaintiff's position is that the fact that Defendant admits he and Plaintiff discussed the sale of cattle, and terms of

the sale, creates a binding contract, even though the contract was never accepted and the conditions to create a binding contract were never fulfilled. In effect, Plaintiff argues the same hypothetical that existed in the Lish case, i.e., that if the parties had entered into a written agreement that contained the terms discussed in conversation and had Plaintiff properly accepted the terms, Defendant would have been bound to them. Who could dispute that position, if it were true? However, as is apparent from the Affidavits, Defendant never admitted in any form the existence of a binding, enforceable contract, or terms that could be construed to be a contract. The Affidavit is abundantly clear that all Defendant admitted to is that the parties had entered into negotiations for the sale of cattle, which were never concluded and which did not result in an enforceable contract. When the alleged admission is viewed in context, it is difficult to understand how this innocuous statement somehow overcomes the time honored protections of the Statute of Frauds. The short answer is that it cannot.

III. PLAINTIFF'S ATTEMPT TO CREATE A FACTUAL ISSUE FAILS.

Plaintiff asks this Court, again based on authority from foreign jurisdictions, to conclude that in cases involving the so-called admission exception to the Statute of Frauds defense, a trial court can never enter judgment against the party claiming the

existence of the contract on a Motion for Summary Judgment. Given the fact that no contract was ever formed, or that no admission was ever made, the Court need not seriously consider this position. Nevertheless, in the spirit of completeness, Defendant will address the issue raised.

The strength of Plaintiff's position is undermined not only by the quality of its cited authority, but also by the policy it advocates. First, two of the three cases Plaintiff cites in support of its position involve Motions to Dismiss filed and decided prior to filing an Answer, and not Motions for Summary Judgment. Accordingly, the procedural posture of the cases cited, and the case at bar, are so completely different that the horrors presented in Plaintiff's block quotes are not present in this appeal. In this case, Defendant has answered the Complaint and presented affidavit evidence that supports its Motion for Summary Judgment. Accordingly, the cases involving Motions to Dismiss and the policy they advance, simply offer no assistance in deciding this case.

More importantly, Plaintiff's far reaching position would preclude trial courts from dismissing cases founded on alleged oral contracts based on the Statute of Frauds, without a determination of the trier of facts that there were no admissions that might take the case outside the bar of the Statute of Frauds. In essence, it

would require a trial in every Statute of Frauds case. Utah courts have not taken such a far reaching position. The ancient doctrine of the Statute of Frauds was created to protect parties from facing difficult evidentiary problems created by alleged oral contracts, and to prevent parties from "the peril of perjury and error" that is "latent in the spoken promise." Ravarino v. Price, 260 P.2d 570, 578 (Utah 1953) (citing Justice Cardozo in Burns v McCormick, 233 N.Y. 230, 135 N.E. 273, 274 (1922)). Accordingly, the very purpose of the statute is to summarily dispose of fraudulent claims of oral contract which are easily fabricated and difficult to defeat. The Alabama Supreme Court recognized, in a case similar to the case at bar, that the problem created by the "admission exception" is that it would make it difficult to summarily dismiss cases, like this one, where there is a dispute whether the parties ever entered into an oral contract--the very type of case the Statute of Frauds was designed to prevent.

In fact, the controversy in the evidence over the agreement indicates the very purpose of the Statute of Frauds--to prevent such controversies. If the agreements had been in writing, this controversy may never have developed."

Cox v. Cox, 292 Ala. 106, 289 So.2d 609 (1974).

The Utah Court of Appeals has expressly recognized that where the legislature has enacted the Statute of Frauds it is appropriate for a trial court to dismiss a case summarily even though there is

a factual dispute whether there was an alleged oral agreement between the parties. See Wardley Corp Better Homes and Gardens v. Burgess, 810 P.2d 476 (Utah 1991).⁴ In Wardley, the Court recognized that the Statute of Frauds placed the risk on certain parties if they chose to proceed without a written contract.

In this case, Plaintiff, a merchant involved in the buying and selling of cattle, knew or should have known of the risks of proceeding without a written contract. Once Plaintiff elected to proceed along a perilous path without a written agreement, in an area which is governed by the bar of the Statute of Frauds, he should not be allowed to avoid the summary dismissal of the case based simply by claiming that there might be an "admission" from the Defendant on the stand.⁵

⁴Contrary to the position taken by Plaintiff in his brief, if this case were to go to the jury, Defendant would not be allowed to present additional evidence about customs and practices in the industry or a prior course of conduct. Defendant's own cases recognize that if evidence as to the existence of an admission is to be decided by the trier of fact, the contract must be established through the alleged admission, and not collateral evidence. See Dangerfield v. Marvel, 222 N.W.2d 373 (N.D. 1974).

⁵Utah courts have routinely held that summary judgment based on the statute of frauds is appropriate. See Downtown Athletic Club v. Horman, 740 P.2d 275 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (granting summary judgment denying attempt to enforce an alleged oral modification to an agreement).

CONCLUSION

This Court should sustain the lower court's decision dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint as a matter of law.